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1. Akron now Requires Conduit Mortgage Payments 
 

Pursuant to Administrative Order 16-01, effective March 1, 2016, the US Bankruptcy 
Court in Akron requires conduit mortgage payments in Chapter 13 plans when the Debtor 
is delinquent in mortgage payments. This Administrative Order requires conduit 
mortgage payments not only on the Debtor(s) residence but on all real property where the 
Debtor(s) is making mortgage payments.  
 
There has been some confusion in the first few weeks of the conduit mortgage program.  
 
The Debtor(s) may opt out of the conduit mortgage payments if they are delinquent no 
more than 2 months in their mortgage payments on their residence. The Debtor(s) is 
required to file an affidavit with the Court asserting that they are current in their 
mortgage payments and are not delinquent in an amount exceeding 2 monthly mortgage 
payments. This affidavit should be filed at the time that the petition is filed with the 
Court.  
 
If the Debtor(s) is current on mortgage payments on nonresidential property the Court 
may consider allowing the Debtor(s) to opt out if a motion is filed. Of course, the motion 
must be reviewed and approved by the Court. 
 
Several cases in the last few weeks had to be amended as some counsel did not seem 
aware of the requirement to make conduit mortgage payments. Please be advised that it is 
the Trustee’s position that even if an affidavit is filed, if the mortgage company files a 
proof of claim with an arrearage which reflects that the Debtor(s) is not current in their 
mortgage payments then counsel must amend their Chapter 13 plan to make the plan a 
conduit mortgage plan. 
 
Nationally, conduit mortgage payments are generally helpful to the Debtor(s) as it 
simplifies their payment program as the Chapter 13 payment includes the mortgage 
payment. This also allows the Trustee to have records and can ask the Court to deem the 
mortgage current at the conclusion of the Chapter 13 plan. 
 
Attached for reference is a copy of Administrative Order 16-01 for counsel to review.  

 
2. Online Personal Financial Management Course 

 
As many counsels are aware, the Chapter 13 office sponsors an online personal financial 
management course free of charge to Debtor(s).  This allows the Debtor(s) to fulfill the 
personal financial management course requirement in order to earn a discharge. The 
course offered by the Chapter 13 office is at no cost to the Debtor(s) and as it is online it 
can be taken at their convenience. However, recently a Debtor lost a discharge as her case 
was closed without a discharge for failing to take a course even though the Debtor paid in 
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over $100,000 into the Chapter 13 plan. The case was closed even though the Debtor was 
given the standard warning that her case would be closed if she failed to take the class. 
Losing a discharge after paying in over $100,000 is a tragedy. 
 
The Trustee would ask all counsel to emphasize to their Debtor(s) that they should take 
the personal financial management course either through the program offered by the 
trusteeship or one of counsel’s own choosing prior to the 341 meeting so that this 
important requirement is completed and puts the Debtor(s) on the road to success in their 
Chapter 13 plan. These courses often help the Debtor(s) understand the Chapter 13 
program and allow the Debtor(s) to get a better understanding of the need for financial 
budgeting.  
 
In recent weeks, the Chapter 13 office has conducted an audit of cases and there are 
currently over 600 cases in which a personal financial management course certificate has 
not been filed with the Court in active Chapter 13 cases filed in Akron. The Chapter 13 
office has sent counsel who have open cases in which a personal financial management 
course has not been taken a worksheet with a detailed listing of their cases as well as a 
flyer so that the Debtor(s) can take the free course offered by the Chapter 13 office. In 
addition, the Chapter 13 office has also undertaken to send each of the over 600 Debtor(s) 
a copy of the flyer asking them to take the class within the next 30 days. So, if counsel 
begin hearing from their Debtor(s) that they received a flyer from the Chapter 13 office 
regarding the class the Trustee is hoping counsel would join the Chapter 13 office and 
emphasize that NOW is the time to take the course.  
 
A copy of the flyer sent to the Debtor(s) is attached for reference. In addition, the Trustee 
would ask that going forward all counsel give a copy of this flyer to the Debtor(s) upon 
filing their petition and advise them to take the course immediately so that it is complete 
before the 341 meeting. 
 
While the bankruptcy code allows Debtor(s) all the way to the end of their case to take 
the personal financial management course, as noted above, that strategy did not work out 
so well for the Debtor who paid in over $100,000 and did not earn the discharge for 
failing to the course.  
 

3. “In Person” Personal Financial Management Course 
 
The Chapter 13 office will continue to offer the “in person” personal financial 
management course a few times a year as some Debtor(s) are not comfortable taking a 
course on line. 
 
Currently, the trusteeship is reviewing new locations to conduct the class and additional 
information will be forthcoming to counsel in the near future, 
 
 
 
 



4. Updated Exemptions 
 
Please be advised that on April 1, 2016, the exemptions for the State of Ohio were 
increased as required by the Ohio Revised Code.  
 
A copy of the updated exemptions is attached to this newsletter for reference. 
 
While most counsel use software vendors which automatically updates the exemptions, 
the Chapter 13 office notes that some exemptions on schedules have not been updated 
indicating that counsel should confer with their software vendor to make sure they have 
the most up to date exemptions.  
 

5.  Updated Means Test Numbers 
 
On May 1, 2016, the Internal Revenue Service updated the numbers for the Means Test. 

 
Counsel should verity with their vendor that their software has been updated. 

 
A copy of the updated numbers is attached for reference. 
 

6. Means Test Issues 
 
As software gets updated, there appears to always be a spike in issues regarding the 
means test. While it is generally believed that the means test automatically pulls numbers 
once they are entered on schedules, that is not always case. The Chapter 13 office 
suggests counsel review a couple petitions before filing to make sure that all of their 
numbers that they thought were being pulled from the schedules have actually transposed 
onto the means test.  
 
Please remember, pursuant to Hamilton v. Lanning, 560 U.S. 505 (2010) the means test 
must be completed correctly before it can be rebutted by Petition schedules I and J if 
circumstances have changed. If circumstances have not changed and the means test 
number is artificially high due to a computer glitch it means that the Debtor(s)’s 
payments to unsecured creditors would have to be increased to an amount to which the 
Debtor(s) may not be able to afford or be required to repay.  
 
Please note that the Akron Chapter 13 office allows automobile insurance on the 
miscellaneous line at the end of the means test (line 43) to reduce the projected 
disposable income number. For some reason, there appears to be no line for automobile 
insurance although it is a requirement that Debtor(s) maintain automobile insurance 
during their Chapter 13 plan.  
 
 
 
 
 



7. Using the Portal  
 
As most counsel know the Chapter 13 office has been using a portal system for document 
delivery. The portal system does not have the size limitations of emails and allows 
encryption of data to protect personal information. 
 
However, counsel must always remember that the portal system is only updated every 24 
hours; and therefore, counsel who are submitting documents the day prior to the 341 
meeting are not allowing enough time for the case to be reviewed.  This lack of time to 
review can require counsel and the Debtor(s) to have to appear at a second 341 meeting. 
 
The Chapter 13 office would respectfully request that all documents for the 341 meeting 
be delivered to portal the Friday prior to the 341 meeting to allow an ample time for a 
review of documents. 
 
For the few counsel who have not signed up for the portal, please find attached to this 
newsletter, instructions on how to use the portal. The portal system is generally used by 
all Chapter 13 Trustees throughout the Northern District of Ohio. 
 

8. Case Law 

In re Travers, No. 15-50844 (Bankr. E.D. Ky. Nov. 16, 2015) 

United Bank held a wholly unsecured second lien on the Travers’ residence. The bank 
argued that while Sixth Circuit precedent, in a case called Lane v. Western Interstate 
Bancorp (In re Lane), 280 F.3d 663 (6th Cir. 2002), permits the strip-off of wholly 
unsecured liens in chapter 13, that case was implicitly overruled by last year’s U.S. 
Supreme Court decision in Bank of America, N.A. v. Caulkett, 135 S. Ct. 1995, 192 L. 
Ed. 2d 52 (2015).  

United Bank has appealed the bankruptcy court’s ruling to the Sixth Circuit BAP on the 
issue of whether Caulkett extends to lien stripping in chapter 13. The bankruptcy court 
held that it does not.  

In granting the Travers’ motion to avoid the lien, the bankruptcy court noted that for a 
circuit precedent to be implicitly overruled there must be “a clear directive from the 
Supreme Court.” It did not find such directive in Caulkett as that case merely applied 
Dewsnup v. Timm (In re Dewsnup), 502 U.S. 410 (1992) (addressing partially secured 
liens in chapter 7), to prohibit strip-off of wholly unsecured liens in chapter 7; a holding 
the Sixth Circuit had already reached in Talbert v. City Mortgage Services (In re Talbert), 
344 F.3d 555 (6th Cir. 2003). Lane, on the other hand, relied on the post-Dewsnup case 
of Nobelman v. American Savings Bank (In re Nobelman), 508 U.S. 324 (1993). Unlike 
Dewsnup which interpreted section 506, paragraphs (a) and (d), the Nobelman Court 
addressed lien stripping under sections 506(a) and 1322(b)(2). Discussing the 
applicability of Nobelman to a case involving lien stripping in chapter 7, the Caulkett 
Court specifically found that “Nobelman offers no guidance.” The Travers court was thus 



satisfied that Caulkett did not disturb the line of chapter 13 cases relying on Nobelman to 
find that wholly unsecured liens could be stripped off. 

Courts around the country have generally held that Caulkett does not apply to lien 
stripping in chapter 13 cases.  

This issue is currently being appealed to the Sixth Circuit BAP, (See No. 15-8051, B.A.P. 
6th Cir. filed Dec. 1, 2015.) 
 
Gandy v. Schuchardt (In re Gandy), 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 6509, 2016 FED App. 
0197N (6th Cir.) (6th Cir. Tenn. 2016). 
 
On February 3, 2011, Gandy filed a Chapter 13 petition which included his Schedule I, 
which stated that he was single and had two dependents: a 48 year old “Live-In 
Wife/Girlfriend” and a disabled 27 year old son. Gandy’s original Schedule I also stated 
that he was employed as the business and finance manager of a car dealership, that his 
gross monthly income was $3,962, and that his “Combined Average Monthly Income” 
was $2,801. Gandy further noted that he is paid based on commission and that his income 
fluctuates. Gandy signed a declaration under penalty of perjury that he “read the 
foregoing summary and schedules, and that they are true and correct to the best of his 
knowledge, information, and belief.”  
 
On June 21, 2011, Gandy filed an Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, which revised his 
marital status to “married” and stated that his spouse was unemployed. In his Chapter 13 
Statement of Current Monthly Income and Calculation of Commitment Period and 
Disposable Income (“Original Chapter 13 Means Test”), which was also filed on 
February 3, 2011, Gandy again represented that he was unmarried. He further represented 
that his monthly income totaled $4,333, which made his annualized income $51,996, 
which is less than the applicable median family income in Tennessee of $52,368. As with 
his Schedule I, Gandy signed a declaration under penalty of perjury. Gandy also filed an 
Original Statement of Financial Affairs, in which he represented that he had not closed, 
sold, or otherwise transferred any financial accounts or instruments in the preceding year. 
As with his other filings, Gandy declared under penalty of perjury that his answers were 
true and correct. When Gandy filed an Amended Statement of Financial Affairs on June 
21, 2011, he did not change his answer regarding whether he had closed any financial 
accounts in the preceding year, but in fact he had closed a bank account with Branch 
Banking & Trust (“BB&T”) on September 28, 2010, just four months before he initiated 
his Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceedings. After a trial in August 2011, the bankruptcy 
court confirmed Gandy’s Chapter 13 Plan, which required him to make semi-monthly 
payments of $141 for sixty months. The bankruptcy court overruled the objections of 
Schuchardt, a creditor, who had filed an adversary proceeding challenging the Gandy’s 
right to a discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727, based on the inaccuracy of Gandy’s 
schedules. As a condition of confirmation, the bankruptcy court required Gandy to file a 
declaration under penalty of perjury setting forth all income earned for each subsequent 
90 day period and to pay any excess disposable income to the Chapter 13 Trustee. On 
February 5, 2013, the Chapter 13 Trustee filed a motion to dismiss Gandy’s Chapter 13 
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case because Gandy had failed to pay $6,110 in excess disposable income.  Before the 
bankruptcy court ruled on the  Chapter 13 Trustee’s motion to dismiss, however, Gandy 
converted his case to Chapter 7, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1307. Upon conversion to 
Chapter 7, Gandy filed under penalty of perjury a Chapter 7 Statement of Current 
Monthly Income and Means Test Calculation (“Original Chapter 7 Means Test”), which 
again classified him as unmarried and listed a total current monthly income of $4,333 and 
an annualized income of $51,996. Because Gandy’s reported annualized income was less 
than the applicable median family income of $52,368, a presumption of abuse did not 
arise under 11 U.S.C. §707(b)(2). Shortly thereafter, Schuchardt filed a motion to dismiss 
Gandy’s Chapter 7 case, arguing that Gandy’s Original Chapter 7 Means Test was false 
and constituted abuse under 11 U.S.C. §707(b). The bankruptcy court denied 
Schuchardt’s motion to dismiss because Gandy’s income as stated in his Means Test was 
low enough that only the court and the United States Trustee had standing to seek 
dismissal of  Gandy’s case under §707(b)(6). 
 
In response, Schuchardt filed the instant adversary proceeding, claiming that Gandy 
should be denied discharge for knowingly and fraudulently filing false documents in 
violation of 11 U.S.C. §§727(a)(4)(A), (a)(2), and (a)(3). Before Gandy responded to the 
Complaint, he filed a notice to withdraw his Original Chapter 7 Means Test, which he 
asserted had been filed “in error.” On that same date, Gandy filed an Amended Chapter 
13 Statement of Current Monthly Income and Calculation of Commitment Period and 
Disposable Income (“Amended Chapter 13 Means Test”), in which he certified that he 
was unmarried and which updated his monthly income to $4,689, with an annualized 
income of $56,268—more than the applicable median family income of $52,368. 
Likewise, Gandy filed an Amended Chapter 7 Statement of Current Monthly Income and 
Means Test Calculation (“Amended Chapter 7 Means Test”), in which he certified that he 
was unmarried and which updated his monthly income to $4,689, with an annualized 
income of $56,268.  
 
The bankruptcy court found that Gandy had made material false oaths with fraudulent 
intent in his Original/Amended Chapter 13 Means Test, his Original/Amended Chapter 7 
Means Test, his Original/Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, and his Original/Amended 
Statement of Financial Affairs, which warranted denial of discharge under 11 U.S.C. 
§727(a)(4)(A). However, the bankruptcy court declined to find that Gandy had violated 
11 U.S.C. §§727(a)(2) or (a)(3). The district court affirmed the ruling of the bankruptcy 
court.  
 
Upon further appeal by Gandy, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district 
court’s ruling. The Court held that the debtor's reliance on inaccurate schedules for more 
than two years, despite repeated objections from a creditor, gave the bankruptcy court 
reason to find that the debtor acted with the requisite fraudulent intent. Further, the Court 
pointed out that the debtor presented confusing and dishonest information to the 
bankruptcy court on multiple occasions which, when considered together, established a 
pattern of reckless and cavalier disregard for the truth. The false oaths regarding the 
debtor's income were material because they potentially affected the rights of creditors to 
file a motion to dismiss, as well as whether a presumption of abuse arose in the case. 



 
 
Husky Int'l Elecs., Inc. v. Ritz, 194 L. Ed. 2d 655, 136 S. Ct. 1581, 84 U.S.L.W. 4270, 
62 Bankr. Ct. Dec. 156, 26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S 135 (U.S. 2016). 
 

Husky International Electronics, Inc. (Husky) sold and delivered electronic equipment to 
Chrysalis Manufacturing Corp. (Chrysalis), headed by Daniel Ritz. Chrysalis owed 
Husky $163,999.38 in purchases between 2003 and 2007. In 2007, Ritz started 
transferring funds from Chrysalis to various other ventures in which he owned stock. In 
2009 Husky sued Ritz for payment of his outstanding debt, and Ritz then filed for 
Chapter 7 bankruptcy. In 2011, Husky filed a complaint against the discharge of Ritz’s 
debt and argued that Ritz had fraudulently moved funds from Chrysalis to other accounts 
in order to file for bankruptcy. The bankruptcy court found that Ritz had not fraudulently 
filed for bankruptcy and that it could not “pierce the veil” to go after Ritz’s personal 
finances for the debt Chrysalis owed. 

Husky appealed to the district court, which affirmed the bankruptcy court’s determination 
and found that Ritz had not committed “actual fraud” by false representation and that 
Husky had not proven that Ritz acted “maliciously and willfully.” The United States 
Appeals Court for the Fifth Circuit affirmed the lower court’s decision to discharge Ritz’s 
debt. 

The “actual fraud” language of the bankruptcy statute encompasses traditional forms of 
fraud and is not limited to fraudulent representation. Justice Sonia Sotomayor delivered 
the opinion of the 7-1 majority. The Court held that “actual fraud” is fraud that is 
committed with wrongful intent, and that “fraud” has traditionally been defined as any 
transfer of assets that impairs a creditor’s ability to collect on the debt. In the common 
law, such fraudulent conveyances did not require that the debtor make a false 
representation to the creditor. Therefore, historically, false representation has never been 
a requirement of “actual fraud” and should not be treated as one in the wording of the 
relevant section of the Bankruptcy Code. This reading maintains meaningful distinctions 
throughout the code and does not make the language redundant. 

In his dissent, Justice Clarence Thomas argued that “actual fraud” as used in the relevant 
section of the bankruptcy statute does not encompass fraudulent transfer schemes. 
Despite the fact that the common law meaning of actual fraud is expansive, this case is 
one of statutory interpretation, not common law, and therefore the common law definition 
cannot be dispositive when it does not fit with the relevant language of the statute. The 
relevant language in this case limits “actual fraud” to situations in which fraud induced 
the creditor to enter into a transaction with the debtor. Justice Thomas argued that the 
majority opinion’s reading of the phrase is overbroad and second-guesses Congress’ 
intent. 
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THIS COURSE IS REQUIRED TO EARN YOUR DISCHARGE ! 
Online Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Course 

Finally Financial Freedom! 
** The Trustees’ Education Network (TEN) – an affiliate of the National Association of Chapter 13 Trustees – has created an online 
financial management course for the benefit and financial education of Chapter 13 debtors.  This course is approved by the United 
States Trustee Program. ** 

THIS COURSE IS FREE! 
 

SIGN UP ONLINE AT WWW.13CLASS.COM 
 
   WHAT YOU WILL NEED TO SIGN UP 

• Unique Trustee Identifier Number 
 TEN13010 

 
• Bankruptcy Case Number 

 
• Your full Name “exactly” as shown on bankruptcy petition 

 
• A valid email address (each debtor will need a separate email address) 

 
• Attorney name and attorney email address 

 
• Your bankruptcy Schedules A/B, D, and E/F for Lesson 1 and Schedules I and J for    

Lesson 3. 

You must complete the entire course (all lessons and quizzes) to receive a Certificate of 
Completion from the Trustees’ Education Network. Once you complete all coursework, the 
Trustees’ Education Network will send a Certificate of Completion to you and to your 
Bankruptcy Court.  

**Course satisfies legal requirements for debtors’ Certificate of Completion and to gain a discharge of their 
bankruptcy case.  

*Other course providers may charge you a fee for this course.  

http://www.13class.com/
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Document Delivery Trustee Portal 
What is Document Delivery? 
 
-Document Delivery will be providing a secure alternative method using industry standard Secure Socket 
Layer (SSL) for sending documents to Trustees using Epiq products. This cuts down on having to send 
and receive large email attachments. Document Delivery portal is primarily setup for Trustees, Debtor 
Attorneys, and their staff. To be able to use this system for uploading documents, Debtor Attorneys must 
receive and accept an invitation email from the Trustee’s office. 

 Web Browsers Requirements:  
-The following browsers are compatible with Document Delivery 

• Chrome 
• FireFox 
• Internet Explorer 
• Safari 
• Netscape 

-Note for Windows users: Microsoft Silverlight must be installed and enabled within the browser. Google 
Chrome users must make sure it is enabled as Chrome tends to disable Plugins by default. If you see the 
Silverlight message, you will need to turn on Silverlight Plugin by visiting  chrome://flags/#enable-npapi 
and then click enable to start the  Plugin.  

Needing Registration Email/Opening an Account: 

-Debtor Attorneys office’s will need to receive the registration invitation email. If your office needs the 
invitation sent, please contact Eric at EHoffert@ch13akron.com. In the invitation email there will be two 
hyperlinks, one for creating an account, and the second for accepting the invitation. Following these 
instructions and hyperlinks in the email will get your enrolled into the Akron Bankruptcy Trustee’s portal 
and from there you will be able to send documents securely to the Trustee. 
Note: End users must register before the link expires. 

Uploading a Document: 

-Once logged in you will be taken to the Dashboard. From there, select “Upload Document” in the top 
right corner of the page (Just to the right of the “Home” icon). To attach the PDF, select the Trustee from 
drop down, enter the case number and, select your document and drag and drop to the box area to be 
uploaded then click “next.” On the next page, notes can be added if needed. A Document Category 
MUST be selected and then click “Finish to File” to upload and send to Trustee. 

 

***Please Note—If you need any assistance regarding the Document Delivery Portal System Please 
contact Eric at EHoffert@ch13akron.com *** 

mailto:EHoffert@ch13akron.com




UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

LEXINGTON DIVISION 
 

IN RE 
 
EUGENE EARL TRAVERS, JR. and 
ADRIENNE NOELLE TRAVERS 
 
DEBTORS 

CASE NO. 15-50844
CHAPTER 13

 
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

 
This matter is before the Court on the Response and Objection to Motion to Avoid Lien 

and Objection to Amended Chapter 13 Plan [ECF Nos. 25 and 26] of Creditor United Bank & 

Trust Company, Versailles, KY, successor by merger to Citizens Bank of Jessamine County 

(“United Bank”) to (i) its treatment in the proposed plan [ECF No. 19], and (ii) the Motion to 

Avoid Junior Lien of United Bank Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 506(a) [ECF No. 21].  The matter is 

fully briefed and oral argument was held on November 5, 2015.  [ECF No. 33 – Debtors’ 

Response and Objection; No. 51 – Chapter 13 Trustee’s Memorandum; No. 52 – United Bank’s 

Reply Memorandum; and No. 53 – Debtors’ Reply Memorandum.] 

United Bank has a second lien on the Debtors’ residence, which is also encumbered by a 

first lien held by Green Tree Servicing LLC in the amount of $332,290.32.  [POC 6-1.]  United 

Bank and the Debtors agree the market value of the property is $290,000.00, so there is no equity 

available to cover United Bank’s lien (i.e., the lien is wholly underwater).  [ECF No. 45.]  

Therefore, the Debtor may strip-off the United Bank lien under current Sixth Circuit precedent in 

Lane v. Western Interstate Bancorp (In re Lane), 280 F.3d 663 (6th Cir. 2002). 

United Bank argues, however, that the recent Supreme Court decision in Bank of 

America, N.A. v. Caulkett, --- U.S. ----, 135 S. Ct. 1995, 192 L. Ed. 2d 52 (2015), changes this 

result.  United Bank admitted at oral argument that Caulkett did not explicitly overrule Lane, but 
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argues the logical implications of the decision would lead to a different result if the Sixth Circuit 

were to reconsider the issue in this case.  See, e.g., Davis v. Springleaf Fin. Servs. (In re Davis), 

Case No. 15-40069, Adv. No. 15-4020, 2015 WL 5299458, *2 n.4 (Bankr. S.D. Ga. Sept. 9, 

2015) (speculating that the reasoning underlying the Caulkett decision may require a 

reexamination of cases allowing strip-off of wholly underwater liens in Chapter 13 cases).  

United Bank, therefore, seeks an order rejecting the Debtors’ proposed avoidance of its lien and 

holding that Lane was abrogated by Caulkett. 

United Bank cannot explain, however, how a lower court may ignore clear precedent 

from the Sixth Circuit.  “[A] published prior panel decision [of the Sixth Circuit] ‘remains 

controlling authority unless an inconsistent decision of the United States Supreme Court requires 

modification of the decision or [the Sixth Circuit] sitting en banc overrules the prior decision.’”  

A.B.C. Beverage Corp. v. United States, 756 F.3d 438, 441 (6th Cir. 2014) (quoting Salmi v. 

Sec’y of Health & Human Servs., 774 F.2d 685, 689 (6th Cir. 1985)).  The Sixth Circuit has not 

overruled Lane, so United Bank must show that the Sixth Circuit is required to modify Lane 

based on Caulkett. 

United Bank has a high burden of persuasion because circuit precedent is not easily 

overruled by Supreme Court precedent, absent explicit direction of that intent.  “[B]inding circuit 

precedent . . . cannot be lightly determined to be overturned based upon a broad interpretation of 

a Supreme Court decision.”  Lawson v. Conley (In re Conley), 482 B.R. 191, 206 (Bankr. S.D. 

Ohio 2012).  Rather, only “a clear directive from the Supreme Court” will require a change.  

United States v. Katzopoulos, 437 F.3d 569, 576 (6th Cir. 2006).  Caulkett does not mandate 

overturning Lane. 
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Caulkett merely applies the interpretation of 11 U.S.C. § 506(d) in Dewsnup v. Timm (In 

re Dewsnup), 502 U.S. 410, 112 S. Ct. 773, 116 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1992) to underwater liens.  The 

Supreme Court in Caulkett held that strip-off of a wholly underwater lien was not available in 

Chapter 7 because “Dewsnup defined the term ‘secured claim’ in § 506(d) to mean a claim 

supported by a security interest in property, regardless of whether the value of that property 

would be sufficient to cover the claim.”  Caulkett, 135 S. Ct. at 1999.  The Sixth Circuit already 

reached that conclusion in Talbert v. City Mortgage Services (In re Talbert), 344 F.3d 555 (6th 

Cir. 2003), a year after Lane was decided. 

Lane was an interpretation of the Supreme Court’s decision in Nobelman v. American 

Savings Bank (In re Nobelman), 508 U.S. 324, 113 S. Ct. 2106, 124 L. Ed. 2d 228 (1993).  

Nobelman, decided one year after Dewsnup, addressed whether a chapter 13 debtor could modify 

the unsecured portion of an undersecured claim secured by a residential mortgage.  The Supreme 

Court determined that a chapter 13 debtor should look “to § 506(a) for a judicial valuation of the 

collateral to determine the status of the bank's secured claim.”  Nobelman, 508 U.S. at 328.  If 

the valuation reveals that a claim has a “secured component,” the debtor may not use 11 U.S.C. 

§ 1322(b)(2) to modify the lien.  Id. at 331. 

Based on Nobelman, the Sixth Circuit decided that a debtor may use § 1322(b)(2) to 

modify a claim that has no secured component.  Lane, 280 F.3d at 669.  In reaching this decision, 

the Sixth Circuit placed special emphasis on the Supreme Court’s endorsement of a § 506(a) 

judicial valuation of collateral as the proper first step in determining the secured status of a 

claim.  Id. at 667.  The Lane court reasoned that such an approach “means that it must make a 

difference whether the overall claim belongs in the pigeonhole marked ‘secured claims’ or the 

pigeonhole marked ‘unsecured claims,’ as those terms are defined in § 506(a).”  Id.  The Sixth 
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Circuit concluded that “the only apparent reason why the classification could make a difference 

is that the special protection accorded by the antimodification provision [of § 1322(b)(2)] 

extends to the rights of holders of ‘secured claims’ and does not extend to the rights of holders of 

‘unsecured claims.’”  Id. at 668. 

Nobelman and Lane address § 506(a) and § 1322(b)(2); they do not consider the pre-

existing decision in Dewsnup or § 506(d).1  Caulkett itself specifically rejected applying the logic 

of the Nobelman in the § 506(d) context: 

Nor do we think Nobelman v. American Savings Bank supports the 
debtors' proposed distinction.  Nobelman said nothing about the meaning of the 
term “secured claim” in § 506(d).  Instead, it addressed the interaction between 
the meaning of the term “secured claim” in § 506(a) and an entirely separate 
provision, § 1322(b)(2).  Nobelman offers no guidance on the question presented 
in these cases because the Court in Dewsnup already declined to apply the 
definition in § 506(a) to the phrase “secured claim” in § 506(d). 

Caulkett, 135 S. Ct. at 2000 (citations omitted).  Having disclaimed Nobelman’s relevance to its 

treatment of § 506(d), there is no reason to believe that the Supreme Court intended Caulkett to 

have any effect on Nobelman or the cases that have applied its holding (including Lane), as 

United Bank suggests. 

Though all were decided prior to Caulkett, the seven other circuits that have considered 

this issue all agree with Lane:  a chapter 13 debtor may avoid a wholly unsecured lien on the 

debtor’s residence notwithstanding the anti-modification provision of § 1322(b)(2).  See Minn. 

Hous. Fin. Agency v. Schmidt (In re Schmidt), 765 F.3d 877 (8th Cir. 2014); Branigan v. Davis 

(In re Davis), 716 F.3d 331 (4th Cir. 2013); Zimmer v. PSB Lending Corp. (In re Zimmer), 313 

F.3d 1220 (9th Cir. 2002); Pond v. Farm Specialist Realty (In re Pond), 252 F.3d 122 (2d Cir. 

2001); Tanner v. FirstPlus Fin.. Inc. (In re Tanner), 217 F.3d 1357 (11th Cir. 2000); Bartee v. 

                                                           
1 Nobelman only cited Dewsnup once, and not for any substantive point of law, but merely to quote the phrase 
“[rights that were] bargained for by the mortgagor and mortgagee.”  Nobelman, 508 U.S. at 329.  Lane did not cite 
Dewsnup or address § 506(d) lien avoidance. 
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Tara Colony Homeowners Ass’n (In re Bartee), 212 F.3d 277 (5th Cir. 2000); McDonald v. 

Master Fin., Inc. (In re McDonald), 205 F.3d 606 (3d Cir.2000). 

Further, all of the courts that have considered this issue in the wake of Caulkett have 

rejected arguments similar to those advanced by United Bank.  They conclude instead that 

Caulkett is limited to the context of Chapter 7 lien-stripping under § 506(d).  See Green Tree 

Servicing, LLC v. Wilson (In re Wilson), 532 B.R. 486, 493 n.10 (S.D.N.Y. 2015); In re Lopez, 

Case No. 14-09533 (ESL), 2015 WL 5920666, at *1 (Bankr. D.P.R. Oct. 9, 2015); Roman v. 

CitiMortgage, Inc. (In re Roman), Case No. 14-03686, Adv. No. 14-0255, 2015 Bankr. LEXIS 

3437, *2 (Bankr. D.P.R. Oct. 8, 2015); Kresl v. Beneficial Neb., Inc. (In re Kresl), Case No. 12-

80557, Adv. No. 15-8016, 2015 WL 5667069, at *1 n.1 (Bankr. D. Neb. Sept. 24, 2015); 

Osbourn v. Wells Fargo Fin. Bank (In re Osbourn), Case No. 12-80485, Adv. No. 15-8007, 2015 

WL 5604442, at *1 n.1 (Bankr. D. Neb. Sept. 21, 2015); In re Ricci-Breen, Case No. 14-22798, 

2015 WL 5156617, at *1 n.2 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Aug. 31, 2015); Young v. Green Tree Servicing, 

LLC (In re Young), Case No. 14-41518, Adv. No. 15-4016, 2015 WL 4940090, at *1 n.2 (Bankr. 

D. Neb. Aug. 18, 2015); Rivera v. Banco Popular de P.R. (In re Rivera), Case No. 13-07968, 

Adv. No. 14-00100, 2015 WL 3932381, at *2 (Bankr. D.P.R. June 25, 2015); Turman v. 

Pinnacle Bank (In re Turman), Case No. 15-80062, Adv. No. 14-8035, 2015 WL 3745304, at *1 

n.1 (Bankr. D. Neb. June 12, 2015). 

Based on this review, the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Bankruptcy Code 

provisions at issue in Caulkett does not implicate or affect interpretation of the distinct 

provisions at issue in this case.  Caulkett merely applied the interpretation of § 506(d) in 

Dewsnup, a pre-Lane case, in a straightforward way to completely underwater liens, just as the 

Sixth Circuit applied Dewsnup to completely underwater liens in Talbert a year after deciding 
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Lane.  Caulkett cannot overrule Lane because it did not make new law; Caulkett only applied 

existing law that predates Lane. 

It is therefore ORDERED that the Debtors’ Motion to Avoid Junior Lien of United Bank 

Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 506(a) [ECF No. 21] is GRANTED and Creditor United Bank’s Response 

and Objection to Motion to Avoid Lien and Objection to Amended Chapter 13 Plan [ECF 

Nos. 25 and 26] are OVERRULED. 

__________________________________________________________________________________________
The affixing of this Court's electronic seal below is proof this document has been signed by the Judge and
electronically entered by the Clerk in the official record of this case.

Signed By:
Gregory R. Schaaf
Bankruptcy Judge
Dated: Monday, November 16, 2015
(grs)
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Opinion

JULIA SMITH GIBBONS, Circuit Judge. Creditor Elliott

Schuchardt filed an adversary proceeding for a determination

that Chapter 7 debtor Kevin Gandy should be denied

discharge based upon 11 U.S.C. §§ 727(a)(2), (3), and (4).

The bankruptcy court denied Gandy’s discharge after finding

that Gandy knowingly and fraudulently made false

statements under oath that materially related to his

bankruptcy case in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4)(A),

and Gandy appealed. The district court affirmed, and Gandy

again appealed. We affirm.

I.
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On February 3, 2011, Gandy filed a voluntary petition under

Chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code. Along with his petition,

Gandy filed his Schedule I—Current Income of Individual

Debtor(s) (″Original [*2] Chapter 13 Schedule I″), which

stated that he was single and had two dependents: a 48

year-old ″Live-In Wife/Girlfriend″ and a disabled 27-year-old

son. Gandy’s Original Schedule I also stated that he was

employed as the business and finance manager of West Side

Honda in Knoxville, Tennessee, that his gross monthly

income was $3,962, and that his ″Combined Average

Monthly Income″ was $2,801. Gandy further noted that he

is paid based on commission and that his income fluctuates.

Gandy signed a declaration under penalty of perjury that he

″read the foregoing summary and schedules, . . . and that

they are true and correct to the best of [his] knowledge,

information, and belief.″ On June 21, 2011, Gandy filed an

Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, which revised his marital

status to ″Married″ and stated that his spouse was

unemployed.

In his Chapter 13 Statement of Current Monthly Income and

Calculation of Commitment Period and Disposable Income

(″Original Chapter 13 Means Test″), which was also filed on

February 3, 2011, Gandy again represented that he was

unmarried. He further represented that his monthly income

totaled $4,333, which made his annualized income $51,996,

which is less than the [*3] applicable median family income

in Tennessee of $52,368.1 As with his Schedule I, Gandy

signed a declaration under penalty of perjury.

Gandy also filed an Original Statement of Financial Affairs,

in which he represented that he had not closed, sold, or

otherwise transferred any financial accounts or instruments

in the preceding year. As with his other filings, Gandy

declared under penalty of perjury that his answers were true

and correct. When Gandy filed an Amended Statement of

Financial Affairs on June 21, 2011, he did not change his

answer regarding whether he had closed any financial

accounts in the preceding year, but in fact he had closed a

bank account with Branch Banking & Trust (″BB&T″) on

September 28, 2010, just four months before he initiated his

Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceedings.

After a trial in August 2011, the bankruptcy court confirmed

Gandy’s Chapter 13 Plan, which required him to make

semi-monthly [*4] payments of $141 for sixty months. The

bankruptcy court overruled the objections of Schuchardt,

who had challenged the accuracy of Gandy’s schedules. As

a condition of confirmation, the bankruptcy court required

Gandy to file a declaration under penalty of perjury setting

forth all income earned for each subsequent 90-day period

and to pay any excess disposable income to the Chapter 13

Trustee. On February 5, 2013, the Chapter 13 Trustee filed

a motion to dismiss Gandy’s Chapter 13 case because

Gandy had failed to pay $6,110 in excess disposable

income. Before the bankruptcy court ruled on the Chapter

13 Trustee’s motion to dismiss, however, Gandy converted

his case to Chapter 7, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1307.

Upon conversion to Chapter 7, Gandy filed under penalty of

perjury a Chapter 7 Statement of Current Monthly Income

and Means-Test Calculation (″Original Chapter 7 Means

Test″), which again classified him as unmarried and listed a

total current monthly income of $4,333 and an annualized

income of $51,996. Because Gandy’s reported annualized

income was less than the applicable median family income

of $52,368, a presumption of abuse did not arise under 11

U.S.C. § 707(b)(2).2

Shortly thereafter, Schuchardt filed a motion to dismiss

Gandy’s Chapter 7 case, arguing that Gandy’s Original

Chapter 7 Means Test was false and constituted abuse under

11 U.S.C. § 707(b). The bankruptcy court denied

Schuchardt’s motion to dismiss because Gandy’s income as

stated in his Means Test was low enough that only the court

and the United States Trustee had standing to seek dismissal

of Gandy’s case under § 707(b)(6).

In response, Schuchardt filed the instant adversary

proceeding, claiming that Gandy should be denied discharge

for knowingly and fraudulently filing false documents in

violation of 11 U.S.C. §§ 727(a)(4)(A), (a)(2), and (a)(3).

Before Gandy responded to the Complaint, he filed a notice

to withdraw his Original Chapter 7 Means Test, which he

asserted had been filed ″in error.″ On that same date, Gandy

filed an Amended Chapter 13 Statement of Current Monthly

Income and Calculation of Commitment Period and

Disposable Income (″Amended Chapter 13 Means Test″),

[*6] in which he certified that he was unmarried and which

updated his monthly income to $4,689, with an annualized

1 Because Gandy represented that his annualized income was less than that of the applicable median family income in Tennessee, he

did not have to complete the remainder of the Means Test, including information regarding deductions from income, disposable income,

and additional expenses.

2 If a debtor’s annualized income exceeds the [*5] applicable median family income, then a presumption of abuse of bankruptcy law’s

protections arises under § 707(b), which requires the debtor to provide additional information to the court to ensure that the debtor is

eligible for the total relief promised a Chapter 7 debtor. See Schultz v. United States, 529 F.3d 343, 347-48 (6th Cir. 2008).
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income of $56,268—more than the applicable median

family income of $52,368. Likewise, Gandy filed an

Amended Chapter 7 Statement of Current Monthly Income

and Means-Test Calculation (″Amended Chapter 7 Means

Test″), in which he certified that he was unmarried and

which updated his monthly income to $4,689, with an

annualized income of $56,268.

The bankruptcy court found that Gandy had made material

false oaths with fraudulent intent in his Original/Amended

Chapter 13 Means Test, his Original/Amended Chapter 7

Means Test, his Original/Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I,

and his Original/Amended Statement of Financial Affairs,

which warranted denial of discharge under 11 U.S.C. §

727(a)(4)(A). However, the bankruptcy court declined to

find that Gandy had violated 11 U.S.C. §§ 727(a)(2) or

(a)(3). The district court affirmed the ruling of the bankruptcy

court.

II.

HN1 ″On appeal following the district court’s review of the

bankruptcy court’s decisions, we review the bankruptcy

court’s orders directly rather than the intermediate decision

of the district court.″ Grant, Konvalinka & Harrison, PC v.

Banks (In re McKenzie), 716 F.3d 404, 411 (6th Cir. 2013)

(citation omitted). We therefore review the bankruptcy

court’s legal conclusions [*7] de novo and its findings of

fact for clear error. Id. A factual finding is clearly erroneous

only if, based on the whole record, we are left with a

definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.

See, e.g., United States v. McGee, 494 F.3d 551, 554 (6th

Cir. 2007). HN2 Although ″[t]he Bankruptcy Code should

be construed liberally in favor of the debtor,″ discharge is a

privilege and not a right, as a debtor who has engaged in

certain types of misconduct is not entitled to a discharge.

Keeney v. Smith (In re Keeney), 227 F.3d 679, 683 (6th Cir.

2000); see 11 U.S.C. § 727.

The bankruptcy court denied discharge on the sole ground

that Gandy made false oaths. Schuchardt contends that the

bankruptcy court erred in not additionally finding that

Gandy violated §§ 727(a)(2) and 727(a)(3). However, HN3

″[i]f any one of these grounds justifies the denial of

discharge, we need not decide the propriety of the others.″

Beaubouef v. Beaubouef (In re Beaubouef), 966 F.2d 174,

177 (5th Cir. 1992). Because we affirm the bankruptcy

court’s denial of discharge pursuant to § 727(a)(4), we do

not address the merits of Schuchardt’s §§ 727(a)(2) and

727(a)(3) claims.

HN4 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4)(A) provides as follows: ″The

court shall grant the debtor a discharge, unless the debtor

knowingly and fraudulently, in or in connection with the

case, made a false oath or account.″ In order to merit denial

of Gandy’s discharge, Schuchardt must prove five elements

by a preponderance of the evidence: ″1) [Gandy] [*8] made

a statement under oath; 2) the statement was false; 3)

[Gandy] knew the statement was false; 4) [Gandy] made the

statement with fraudulent intent; and 5) the statement

related materially to the bankruptcy case.″ In re Keeney, 227

F.3d at 685 (citing In re Beaubouef, 966 F.2d at 178).

″Whether a debtor has made a false oath under section

727(a)(4)(A) is a question of fact,″ which we review for

clear error. Eifler v. Wilson & Muir Bank & Trust Co., 588

F. App’x 473, 477 (6th Cir. 2014) (quoting In re Keeney, 227

F.3d at 685). False statements in the debtor’s schedules are

sufficient to justify the denial of discharge. In re Beaubouef,

966 F.2d at 178.

HN5 We previously considered fraudulent intent and

materiality under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4)(A) as follows:

[I]ntent to defraud ″involves a material representation

that you know to be false, or, what amounts to the same

thing, an omission that you know will create an

erroneous impression.″ In re Chavin, 150 F.3d 726, 728

(7th Cir. 1998). A reckless disregard as to whether a

representation is true will also satisfy the intent

requirement. See id. ″[C]ourts may deduce fraudulent

intent from all the facts and circumstances of a case.″

Williamson [v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., 828 F.2d 249,

252 (4th Cir. 1987)] (citation omitted). However, a

debtor is entitled to discharge if false information is the

result of mistake or inadvertence. See [Gullickson v.

Brown (In re Brown), 108 F.3d 1290, 1294 (10th Cir.

1997)]. The subject of a false oath is material if it

″’bears a relationship to the bankrupt’s business

transactions or estate, or concerns the discovery of

assets, business [*9] dealings, or the existence and

disposition of his property.’″ Beaubouef, 966 F.2d at

178 (citation omitted).

In re Keeney, 227 F.3d at 685-86. Further, materiality does

not turn solely on an asset’s value, but also depends on

″whether the omission was detrimental to creditors.″ Pratt v.

Pratt (In re Pratt), 411 F.3d 561, 566 (5th Cir. 2005)

(quoting In re Beaubouef, 966 F.2d at 178). ″It makes no

difference that he does not intend to injure his creditors

when he makes a false statement.″ Chalik v. Moorefield (In

re Chalik), 748 F.2d 616, 618 (11th Cir. 1984).

The bankruptcy court found that Gandy made material false

oaths in his Original/Amended Chapter 13 Means Test, his

Original/Amended Chapter 7 Means Test, his
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Original/Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, and his

Original/Amended Statement of Financial Affairs. The

bankruptcy court reasoned that ″based upon the Defendant’s

own pay advices, the $4,333.00 reflected in the Chapter 13

Means Test and again in the Chapter 7 Means Test is not an

accurate figure, and the Defendant’s testimony that the three

day delay in filing his bankruptcy schedules caused a

mathematical error is not plausible and is clearly incorrect.″

In re Gandy, No. 11-30369, Adversary No. 13-3061, 2014

Bankr. LEXIS 1473, 2014 WL 1374050, at *6 (Bankr. E.D.

Tenn. Apr. 8, 2014). Gandy’s ″testimony at trial that he had

not remembered when the [BB&T] account had been closed

did not satisfy the court that the failure to list the account

was a mere oversight.″ 2014 Bankr. LEXIS 1473, [WL] at

*7. Further, Schuchardt’s ″objections [*10] and motions put

[Gandy] on notice that he should recheck his numbers,

which were sworn to under penalty of perjury.″ 2014 Bankr.

LEXIS 1473, [WL] at *8.

On appeal, Gandy argues that the false oaths were mere

mistakes and that he lacked the intent required by the

statute. He further asserts that the false oaths were not

material, as required by In re Keeney. According to Gandy,

because the false statements in the Chapter 13 and Chapter

7 Means Test would not affect his eligibility to file a

Chapter 7 petition, he should not be denied discharge. As for

his failure to disclose the BB&T account, Gandy claims that

he ″stated several times at trial that the omission was caused

by sheer inadvertence.″ First Br. at 22.

As early as February 22, 2011, the same month in which

Gandy filed his original Chapter 13 petition, Schuchardt’s

objections to the accuracy of Gandy’s filings should have

put Gandy on notice that his stated income was false.

Although the bankruptcy court ultimately confirmed Gandy’s

Chapter 13 plan, and overruled Schuchardt’s objections, the

court ordered Gandy to file his payroll stubs with the court

and to pay additional earned income to the Chapter 13

Trustee—which further should have put Gandy on notice

regarding [*11] the accuracy of his filings. Gandy again

filed under penalty of perjury the incorrect income amount

when he converted his case to Chapter 13 more than two

years later. Gandy did not finally correct the mistakes in his

Original Chapter 13 Means Test until July 31, 2013, and in

his Original Chapter 7 Means Test until September 11,

2013. Gandy’s reliance on inaccurate schedules for more

than two years, despite repeated objections from Schuchardt,

certainly gave the bankruptcy court reason to find that

Gandy had acted with the requisite fraudulent intent. See

Boroff v. Tully (In re Tully), 818 F.2d 106, 110 (1st Cir.

1987) (HN6 ″Neither the trustee nor the creditors should be

required to engage in a laborious tug-of-war to drag the

simple truth into the glare of daylight.″).

Despite signing declarations under the penalty of perjury,

Gandy relied upon false income numbers for years, and he

continued to rely upon these numbers as Schuchardt

repeatedly challenged their veracity. See Fed. R. Bankr. P.

1008. He has never explained why some of his documents

and his testimony at trial indicate that he is married, while

others list him as unmarried, nor has he explained how he

could spend $147 per month on educational expenses for a

minor child when his only stated dependents are a [*12]

wife/girlfriend and twenty-seven year old son. Contrary to

HN7 the ″fundamental purpose of § 727(a)(4)(A) . . . to

insure that the trustee and creditors have accurate information

without having to do costly investigations,″ Gandy presented

confusing and dishonest information to the bankruptcy court

on multiple occasions. See United States Trustee v. Zhang

(In re Zhang), 463 B.R. 66, 86 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 2012)

(quoting Jahn v. Flemings (In re Flemings), 433 B.R. 230,

237 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. 2010)). When considered together,

the numerous and repeated false oaths in the

Original/Amended Chapter 13 Means Test, his

Original/Amended Chapter 7 Means Test, his

Original/Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, and his

Original/Amended Statement of Financial Affairs, prove a

clear example of ″a pattern of reckless and cavalier disregard

for the truth.″ Stevenson v. Taylor (In re Taylor), 461 B.R.

420, 423 (E.D. Mich. 2011) (citation omitted).

Gandy’s argument that none of the false oaths in his

Original/Amended Chapter 13 Means Test, his

Original/Amended Chapter 7 Means Test, his

Original/Amended Chapter 13 Schedule I, and his

Original/Amended Statement of Financial Affairs, are

material, is unavailing. The test for determining whether a

false oath is material is not so narrow as Gandy suggests

when he contends that materiality requires that a false oath

″would have changed [something] with respect to the case

or produced an asset or other benefit to [*13] the estate.″ See

First Br. at 26. Rather,HN8 a false oath is material if it

″bears a relationship to the bankrupt’s business transactions.″

In re Beaubouef, 966 F.2d at 178 (citation omitted). ″In

determining whether or not an omission is material, the

issue is not merely the value of the omitted assets or

whether the omission was detrimental to creditors.″ Id.

(citation omitted).

In this case, the false oaths regarding Gandy’s income were

detrimental to creditors. Gandy’s misstated income

potentially affected the rights of Schuchardt and other

creditors to file a motion to dismiss, as well as whether a

presumption of abuse arose in the case and whether Gandy

was required to complete additional paperwork. Although

the instant case related to Gandy’s Chapter 7 bankruptcy, his
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inaccurate income in his Original Chapter 13 Means Test

directly related to the confirmation of his Chapter 13 plan

and how much he owed to the Chapter 13 Trustee each

month and was in place for more than a year before he

converted to Chapter 7. Gandy’s false oaths regarding his

monthly income are plainly material. So too is the false oath

in the Original/Amended Statement of Financial Affairs, in

which Gandy failed to disclose the closure of the [*14]

BB&T account. The bankruptcy court found that Gandy’s

testimony at trial that his failure to disclose this account was

a mere oversight was not convincing, and Gandy presented

no compelling argument for why this court should overturn

this factual finding by the bankruptcy court.

For the reasons stated previously, we affirm.
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Case Summary

Overview

ISSUE: Whether prohibition of a bankruptcy discharge for

″actual fraud″ under 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A) encompasses

fraudulent conveyance schemes, even when those schemes

do not involve a false representation. HOLDINGS: [1]-From

the beginning of English bankruptcy practice, the term

″fraud″ had been used to describe a transfer of assets that

impaired a creditor’s ability to collect a debt; [2]-Fraudulent

conveyances, although a ″fraud,″ do not require a

misrepresentation from a debtor to a creditor; [3]-Any

overlap between § 523(a)(2)(A) and other exceptions to

discharge did not warrant a different interpretation of

″actual fraud″; [4]-Fraudulent conveyances are not wholly

incompatible with the requirement that the debt be ″obtained

by″ actual fraud, nor does that phrase require that the debt

result from or be traceable to fraud at the inception of a

credit transaction.

Outcome

Judgment reversed; case remanded. 7-1 Decision; 1 Dissent.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN1 The Bankruptcy Code prohibits debtors from

discharging debts obtained by false pretenses, a false

representation, or actual fraud. 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A).

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN2 The term “actual fraud” in 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A)

encompasses forms of fraud, like fraudulent conveyance

schemes, that can be effected without a false representation.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN3 Before 1978, the Bankruptcy Code prohibited debtors

from discharging debts obtained by false pretenses or false

representations. Former 11 U.S.C.S. § 35(a)(2). In the

Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, Congress added “actual

fraud” to that list. 92 Stat. 2590. The prohibition now reads

that a discharge under Chapters 7, 11, 12, or 13 of this title

does not discharge an individual debtor from any debt for

money, property, services, or an extension, renewal, or

refinancing of credit, to the extent obtained by false

pretenses, a false representation, or actual fraud. 11 U.S.C.S.

§ 523(a)(2)(A).

Governments > Legislation > Interpretation

HN4 When Congress acts to amend a statute, a court

presumes it intends its amendment to have real and

substantial effect.
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Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

Torts > ... > Fraud & Misrepresentation > Actual Fraud >

Elements

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Enforcement & Execution >

Fraudulent Transfers

HN5 The U.S. Supreme Court has historically construed the

terms in 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A) to contain the elements

that the common law has defined them to include. “Actual

fraud” has two parts: actual and fraud. The word “actual”

has a simple meaning in the context of common-law fraud:

It denotes any fraud that involves moral turpitude or

intentional wrong. “Actual” fraud stands in contrast to

“implied” fraud or fraud “in law,” which describe acts of

deception that may exist without the imputation of bad faith

or immorality. Thus, anything that counts as “fraud” and is

done with wrongful intent is “actual fraud.” From the

beginning of English bankruptcy practice, courts and

legislatures have used the term “fraud” to describe a

debtor’s transfer of assets that impairs a creditor’s ability to

collect the debt.

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Enforcement & Execution >

Fraudulent Transfers

Torts > Business Torts > Fraud & Misrepresentation

Business & Corporate Compliance > ... > Contracts Law >

Standards of Performance > Creditors & Debtors

HN6 The common law indicates that fraudulent

conveyances, although a “fraud,” do not require a

misrepresentation from a debtor to a creditor. As a basic

point, fraudulent conveyances are not an inducement-based

fraud. Fraudulent conveyances typically involve a transfer

to a close relative, a secret transfer, a transfer of title without

transfer of possession, or grossly inadequate consideration.

In such cases, the fraudulent conduct is not in dishonestly

inducing a creditor to extend a debt. It is in the acts of

concealment and hindrance. In the fraudulent-conveyance

context, therefore, the opportunities for a false representation

from the debtor to the creditor are limited. The debtor may

have the opportunity to put forward a false representation if

the creditor inquires into the whereabouts of the debtor’s

assets, but that could hardly be considered a defining feature

of this kind of fraud.

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Enforcement & Execution >

Fraudulent Transfers

HN7 A conveyance which hinders, delays or defrauds

creditors shall be void as against the recipient unless that

party received it in good faith and for consideration.

Torts > ... > Fraud & Misrepresentation > Actual Fraud >

Elements

HN8 A false representation has never been a required

element of “actual fraud,” and the U.S. Supreme Court

declines to adopt it as one.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Malicious & Willful Injury

HN9 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(4) covers only debts for fraud

while acting as a fiduciary, whereas § 523(a)(2)(A) has no

similar limitation. And § 523(a)(6) covers debts for willful

and malicious injury, whether or not that injury is the result

of fraud, whereas § 523(a)(2)(A) covers only fraudulent

acts. Thus, given the clear differences between these

provisions, there is no reason to craft an artificial definition

of “actual fraud” merely to avoid narrow redundancies in §

523 that appear unavoidable.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

Bankruptcy Law > ... > Liquidations > Denial of Discharge >

Concealment & Fraudulent Transfers

HN10 11 U.S.C.S. § 727(a)(2) prevents a debtor from

discharging all of his debts if, within the year preceding the

bankruptcy petition, he transferred, removed, destroyed,

mutilated, or concealed property with intent to hinder, delay,

or defraud a creditor or an officer of the estate charged with

custody of property. Although § 727(a)(2) and 11 U.S.C.S. §

523(a)(4) could cover some of the same conduct, they are

meaningfully different. Section 727(a)(2) is broader than §

523(a)(2)(A) in scope—preventing an offending debtor

from discharging all debt in bankruptcy. But it is narrower

than § 523(a)(2)(A) in timing—applying only if the debtor

fraudulently conveys assets in the year preceding the

bankruptcy filing. In short, while § 727(a)(2) is a blunt

remedy for actions that hinder the entire bankruptcy process,

§ 523(a)(2)(A) is a tailored remedy for behavior connected

to specific debts.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN11 It is of course true that the transferor does not

“obtain” debts in a fraudulent conveyance. But the recipient

of the transfer—who, with the requisite intent, also commits

fraud—can “obtain” assets “by” his or her participation in

the fraud. If that recipient later files for bankruptcy, any

debts “traceable to” the fraudulent conveyance will be
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nondischargable under 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A). Thus, at

least sometimes a debt “obtained by” a fraudulent

conveyance scheme could be nondischargeable under §

523(a)(2)(A). Such circumstances may be rare because a

person who receives fraudulently conveyed assets is not

necessarily (or even likely to be) a debtor on the verge of

bankruptcy, but they make clear that fraudulent conveyances

are not wholly incompatible with the “obtained by”

requirement.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN12 Regarding whether the phrase “obtained by actual

fraud” under 11 U.S.C.S. § 523(a)(2)(A) requires not only

that the relevant debts “result from” or be “traceable to”

fraud but also that they result from fraud at the inception of

a credit transaction, nothing in the text of § 523(a)(2)(A)

supports that additional requirement.

Bankruptcy Law > Discharge & Dischargeability > Exceptions

to Discharge > Embezzlement & False Representations

HN13 Because the phrase “actual fraud” in 11 U.S.C.S. §

523(a)(2)(A) must be given the meaning it has long held,

“actual fraud” is interpreted to encompass fraudulent

conveyance schemes, even when those schemes do not

involve a false representation.

Syllabus

[*659] Chrysalis Manufacturing Corp. incurred a debt to

petitioner Husky International Electronics, Inc., of nearly

$164,000. Respondent Daniel Lee Ritz, Jr., Chrysalis’

director and part owner at the time, drained Chrysalis of

assets available to pay the debt by transferring large sums of

money to other entities Ritz controlled. Husky sued Ritz to

recover on the debt. Ritz then filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy,

prompting Husky to file a complaint in Ritz’ bankruptcy

case, seeking to hold him personally liable and contending

that the debt was not dischargeable because Ritz’

intercompany-transfer scheme constituted “actual fraud”

under the Bankruptcy Code’s discharge exceptions. 11 U. S.

C. §523(a)(2)(A).

The District Court held that Ritz was personally liable under

state law but also held that the debt was not “obtained by .

. . actual fraud” under §523(a)(2)(A) and thus could be

discharged in bankruptcy. The Fifth Circuit affirmed, holding

that a misrepresentation from a debtor to a creditor is a

necessary element of “actual fraud” and was lacking in this

case, because Ritz made no false representations to Husky

regarding the [**2] transfer of Chrysalis’ assets.

Held: The term “actual fraud” in §523(a)(2)(A) encompasses

fraudulent conveyance schemes, even when those schemes

do not involve a false representation. Pp. 3-11.

(a) It is sensible to presume that when Congress amended

the Bankruptcy Code in 1978 and added to debts obtained

by “false pretenses or false representations” an additional

bankruptcy discharge exception for debts obtained by “actual

fraud,” it did not intend the term “actual fraud” to mean the

same thing as the already-existing term “false

representations.” See United States v. Quality Stores, Inc.,

572 U. S. ___, ___, 134 S. Ct. 1395, 188 L. Ed. 2d 413. Even

stronger evidence that “actual fraud” encompasses the kind

of conduct alleged to have occurred here is found in the

phrase’s historical meaning. At common law, “actual fraud”

meant fraud committed with wrongful intent, Neal v. Clark,

95 U. S. 704, 709, 24 L. Ed. 586. And the term “fraud” has,

since the beginnings of bankruptcy practice, been used to

describe asset transfers that, like Ritz’ scheme, impair a

creditor’s ability to collect a debt.

One of the first bankruptcy Acts, the Fraudulent Conveyances

Act of 1571, 13 Eliz., ch. 5, identified as “fraud”

conveyances made with “[i]ntent to delay hynder or defraude

[c]reditors.” The degree to which that statute remains

embedded in fraud-related laws today, [**3] see, e.g., BFP

v. Resolution Trust Corporation, 511 U. S. 531, 540, 114 S.

Ct. 1757, 128 L. Ed. 2d 556, clarifies that the common-law

term “actual fraud” is broad enough to incorporate fraudulent

conveyances. The common law also indicates that fraudulent

conveyances do not require a misrepresentation from a

debtor to a creditor, see id., at 541, as they lie not in

dishonestly inducing a creditor to extend a debt but in the

acts of concealment and hindrance. Pp. 3-6.

(b) Interpreting “actual fraud” in §523(a)(2)(A) to encompass

fraudulent conveyances would not, as Ritz [*660] contends,

render duplicative two of §523’s other discharge exceptions,

§§523(a)(4), (6), given that “actual fraud” captures much

conduct not covered by those other provisions. Nor does this

interpretation create a redundancy in §727(a)(2), which is

meaningfully different from §523(a)(2)(A). It is also not

incompatible with §523(a)(2)(A)’s “obtained by”

requirement. Even though the transferor of a fraudulent

conveyance does not obtain assets or debts through the

fraudulent conveyance, the transferee—who, with the

requisite intent, also commits fraud—does. At minimum,

those debts would not be dischargeable under §523(a)(2)(A).

Finally, reading the phrase “actual fraud” to restrict, rather

than expand, the discharge exception’s reach would

untenably require reading the disjunctive “or” in the phrase

[**4] “false pretenses, a false representation, or actual

fraud” to mean “by.” Pp. 7-10.
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787 F. 3d 312, reversed and remanded.

Counsel: Shay Dvoretzky argued the cause for petitioner.

Erin E. Murphy and William D. Weber argued the cause for

respondents

Judges: Sotomayor, J., delivered the opinion of the Court,

in which Roberts, C. J., and Kennedy, Ginsburg, Breyer,

Alito, and Kagan, JJ., joined. Thomas, J., filed a dissenting

opinion.

Opinion by: Sotomayor

Opinion

Justice Sotomayor delivered the opinion of the Court.

HN1 The Bankruptcy Code prohibits debtors from

discharging debts “obtained by . . . false pretenses, a false

representation, or actual fraud.” 11 U. S. C. §523(a)(2)(A).

The Fifth Circuit held that a debt is “obtained by . . . actual

fraud” only if the debtor’s fraud involves a false

representation to a creditor. That ruling deepened an existing

split among the Circuits over whether “actual fraud” requires

a false representation or whether it encompasses other

traditional forms of fraud that can be accomplished without

a false representation, such as a fraudulent conveyance of

property made to evade payment to creditors. We granted

certiorari to resolve that split and now reverse.

I

Husky International Electronics, Inc., is a Colorado-based

supplier of components used in electronic devices. Between

2003 and 2007, Husky sold its products to Chrysalis

Manufacturing Corp., and [**5] Chrysalis incurred a debt to

Husky of $163,999.38. During the same period, respondent

Daniel Lee Ritz, Jr., served as a director of Chrysalis and

owned at least 30% of Chrysalis’ common stock.

All parties agree that between 2006 and 2007, Ritz drained

Chrysalis of assets it could have used to pay its debts to

creditors like Husky by transferring large sums of Chrysalis’

funds to other entities Ritz controlled. For instance—and

Ritz’ actions were by no means limited to these

examples—Ritz transferred $52,600 to CapNet Risk

Management, Inc., a company he owned in full; $121,831 to

CapNet Securities Corp., a company in which he owned an

85% interest; and $99,386.90 to Dynalyst Manufacturing

Corp., a company in which he owned a 25% interest.

In May 2009, Husky filed a lawsuit against Ritz seeking to

hold him personally responsible for Chrysalis’ [*661]

$163,999.38 debt. Husky argued that Ritz’

intercompany-transfer scheme was “actual fraud” for

purposes of a Texas law that allows creditors to hold

shareholders responsible for corporate debt. See Tex. Bus.

Orgs. Code Ann. §21.223(b) (West 2012). In December

2009, Ritz filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy in the United

States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas.

Husky then [**6] initiated an adversarial proceeding in Ritz’

bankruptcy case again seeking to hold Ritz personally liable

for Chrysalis’ debt. Husky also contended that Ritz could

not discharge that debt in bankruptcy because the same

intercompany-transfer scheme constituted “actual fraud”

under 11 U. S. C. §523(a)(2)(A)’s exemption to discharge. 1

The District Court held that Ritz was personally liable for

the debt under Texas law, but that the debt was not

“obtained by . . . actual fraud” under §523(a)(2)(A) and

could be discharged in his bankruptcy.

The Fifth Circuit affirmed. It did not address whether Ritz

was responsible for Chrysalis’ debt under Texas law because

it agreed with the District Court that Ritz did not commit

“actual fraud” under §523(a)(2)(A). Before the Fifth Circuit,

Husky argued that Ritz’ asset-transfer scheme was effectuated

through a series of fraudulent conveyances—or transfers

intended to obstruct the collection of debt. And, Husky said,

such transfers are [**7] a recognizable form of “actual

fraud.” The Fifth Circuit dis-agreed, holding that a necessary

element of “actual fraud” is a misrepresentation from the

debtor to the creditor, as when a person applying for credit

adds an extra zero to her income or falsifies her employment

history. In re Ritz, 787 F. 3d 312, 316 (2015). In transferring

Chrysalis’ assets, Ritz may have hindered Husky’s ability to

recover its debt, but the Fifth Circuit found that he did not

make any false representations to Husky regarding those

assets or the transfers and therefore did not commit “actual

fraud.”

We reverse. HN2 The term “actual fraud” in §523(a)(2)(A)

encompasses forms of fraud, like fraudulent conveyance

schemes, that can be effected without a false representation.

II

1 Husky also alleged that Ritz’ debt should be exempted from discharge under two other exceptions, see 11 U. S. C. §523(a)(4)

(excepting debts for fraud “while acting in a fiduciary capacity”); §523(a)(6) (excepting debts for “willful and malicious injury”), but

does not press those claims in this petition.
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A

HN3 Before 1978, the Bankruptcy Code prohibited debtors

from discharging debts obtained by “false pretenses or false

representations.” §35(a)(2) (1976 ed.). In the Bankruptcy

Reform Act of 1978, Congress added “actual fraud” to that

list. 92 Stat. 2590. The prohibition now reads: “A discharge

under [Chapters 7, 11, 12, or 13] of this title does not

discharge an individual debtor from any debt . . . for money,

property, services, or an extension, renewal, or refinancing

of credit, to the extent obtained by . . . false [**8] pretenses,

a false representation, or actual fraud.” §523(a)(2)(A) (2012

ed.).

HN4 When “‘Congress acts to amend a statute, we presume

it intends its amendment to have real and substantial

effect.’” United States v. Quality [*662] Stores, Inc., 572 U.

S. ___, ___, 134 S. Ct. 1395, 188 L. Ed. 2d 413, 421 (2014).

It is therefore sensible to start with the presumption that

Congress did not intend “actual fraud” to mean the same

thing as “a false representation,” as the Fifth Circuit’s

holding suggests. But the historical meaning of “actual

fraud” provides even stronger evidence that the phrase has

long encompassed the kind of conduct alleged to have

occurred here: a transfer scheme designed to hinder the

collection of debt.

HN5 This Court has historically construed the terms in

§523(a)(2)(A) to contain the “elements that the common law

has defined them to include.” Field v. Mans, 516 U. S. 59,

69, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1995). “Actual fraud”

has two parts: actual and fraud. The word “actual” has a

simple meaning in the context of common-law fraud: It

denotes any fraud that “involv[es] moral turpitude or

intentional wrong.” Neal v. Clark, 95 U. S. 704, 709, 24 L.

Ed. 586 (1878). “Actual” fraud stands in contrast to

“implied” fraud or fraud “in law,” which describe acts of

deception that “may exist without the imputation of bad

faith or immorality.” Ibid. Thus, anything that counts as

“fraud” and is done with wrongful intent is “actual fraud.”

Although “fraud” [**9] connotes deception or trickery

generally, the term is difficult to define more precisely. See

1 J. Story, Commentaries on Equity Jurisprudence §189, p.

221 (6th ed. 1853) (Story) (“Fraud . . . being so various in

its nature, and so extensive in its application to human

concerns, it would be difficult to enumerate all the instances

in which Courts of Equity will grant relief under this head”).

There is no need to adopt a definition for all times and all

circumstances here because, from the beginning of English

bankruptcy practice, courts and legislatures have used the

term “fraud” to describe a debtor’s transfer of assets that,

like Ritz’ scheme, impairs a creditor’s ability to collect the

debt.

One of the first bankruptcy acts, the Statute of 13 Elizabeth,

has long been relied upon as a restatement of the law of

so-called fraudulent conveyances (also known as “fraudulent

transfers” or “fraudulent alienations”). See generally G.

Glenn, The Law of Fraudulent Conveyances 89-92 (1931).

That statute, also called the Fraudulent Conveyances Act of

1571, identified as fraud “faigned covenous and fraudulent

Feoffmentes Gyftes Grauntes Alienations [and]

Conveyaunces” made with “Intent to delaye hynder [**10]

or defraude Creditors.” 13 Eliz. ch. 5. In modern terms,

Parliament made it fraudulent to hide assets from creditors

by giving them to one’s family, friends, or associates. The

principles of the Statute of 13 Elizabeth—and even some of

its language—continue to be in wide use today. See BFP v.

Resolution Trust Corporation, 511 U. S. 531, 540, 114 S. Ct.

1757, 128 L. Ed. 2d 556 (1994) (“The modern law of

fraudulent transfers had its origin in the Statute of 13

Elizabeth”); id., at 541, 114 S. Ct. 1757, 128 L. Ed. 2d 556

(“Every American bankruptcy law has incorporated a

fraudulent transfer provision”); Story §353, at 393 (“[T]he

statute of 13 Elizabeth . . . has been universally adopted in

America, as the basis of our jurisprudence on the same

subject”); Boston Trading Group, Inc. v. Burnazos, 835 F.

2d 1504, 1505-1506 (CA1 1987) (Breyer, J.) (“Mass. Gen.

Laws ch. 109A, §§1-13 . . . [*663] is a uniform state law

that codifies both common and statutory law stretching back

at least to 1571 and the Statute of Elizabeth”). The degree to

which this statute remains embedded in laws related to fraud

today clarifies that the common-law term “actual fraud” is

broad enough to incorporate a fraudulent conveyance.

Equally important, HN6 the common law also indicates that

fraudulent conveyances, although a “fraud,” do not require

a misrepresentation from a debtor to a creditor. As a basic

point, fraudulent conveyances are not an inducement-based

fraud. Fraudulent [**11] conveyances typically involve “a

transfer to a close relative, a secret transfer, a transfer of title

without transfer of possession, or grossly inadequate

consideration.” BFP, 511 U. S., at 540-541, 114 S. Ct. 1757,

128 L. Ed. 2d 556 (citing Twyne’s Case, 3 Co. Rep. 80b, 76

Eng. Rep. 809 (K. B. 1601)); O. Bump, Fraudulent

Conveyances: A Treatise Upon Conveyances Made by

Debtors To Defraud Creditors 31-60 (3d ed. 1882)). In such

cases, the fraudulent conduct is not in dishonestly inducing

a creditor to extend a debt. It is in the acts of concealment

and hindrance. In the fraudulent-conveyance context,

therefore, the opportunities for a false representation from

the debtor to the creditor are limited. The debtor may have

the opportunity to put forward a false representation if the

creditor inquires into the whereabouts of the debtor’s assets,

but that could hardly be considered a defining feature of this

kind of fraud.
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Relatedly, under the Statute of 13 Elizabeth and the laws

that followed, both the debtor and the recipient of the

conveyed assets were liable for fraud even though the

recipient of a fraudulent conveyance of course made no

representation, true or false, to the debtor’s creditor. The

famous Twyne’s Case, which this Court relied upon in BFP,

illustrates this point. [**12] See Twyne’s Case, 76 Eng. Rep.,

at 823 (convicting Twyne of fraud under the Statute of 13

Elizabeth, even though he was the recipient of a debtor’s

conveyance). That principle underlies the now-common

understanding that HN7 a “conveyance which hinders,

delays or defrauds creditors shall be void as against [the

recipient] unless . . . th[at] party . . . received it in good faith

and for consideration.” Glenn, Law of Fraudulent

Conveyances §233, at 312. That principle also underscores

the point that HN8 a false representation has never been a

required element of “actual fraud,” and we decline to adopt

it as one today.

B

Ritz concedes that fraudulent conveyances are a form of

“actual fraud,” 2 but contends that 11 U. S. C. §523(a)(2)(A)’s

particular use of the phrase means something else. Ritz’

strained reading of the provision finds little support.

First, Ritz contends that interpreting “actual fraud” in

§523(a)(2)(A) to encompass fraudulent conveyances would

render duplicative two other exceptions to discharge in

[**13] §523. Section 523(a)(4) exempts from discharge

“any debt . . . for fraud or defalcation [*664] while acting

in a fiduciary capacity, embezzlement, or larceny.” And

§523(a)(6) exempts “any debt . . . for willful and malicious

injury by the debtor to another entity or to the property of

another entity.”

Ritz makes the unremarkable point that the traditional

definition of “actual fraud” will cover some of the same

conduct as those exceptions: for example, a trustee who

fraudulently conveys away his trust’s assets. But Ritz’

interpretation does not avoid duplication, nor does our

interpretation fail to preserve a meaningful difference

between §523(a)(2)(A) and §§523(a)(4), (6). Just as a

fiduciary who engages in a fraudulent conveyance may find

his debt exempted from discharge under either §523(a)(2)(A)

or §523(a)(4), so too would a fiduciary who engages in one

of the fraudulent misrepresentations that form the core of

Ritz’ preferred interpretation of §523(a)(2)(A). The same is

true for §523(a)(6). The debtors who commit fraudulent

conveyances and the debtors who make false representations

under §523(a)(2)(A) could likewise also inflict “willful and

malicious injury” under §523(a)(6). There is, in short,

overlap, but that overlap appears inevitable.

And, of course, our interpretation of “actual fraud” in

§523(a)(2)(A) also preserves [**14] meaningful distinctions

between that provision and §§523(a)(4), (a)(6). HN9 Section

523(a)(4), for instance, covers only debts for fraud while

acting as a fiduciary, whereas §523(a)(2)(A) has no similar

limitation. Nothing in our interpretation alters that

distinction. And §523(a)(6) covers debts “for willful and

malicious injury,” whether or not that injury is the result of

fraud, see Kawaauhau v. Geiger, 523 U. S. 57, 61, 118 S. Ct.

974, 140 L. Ed. 2d 90 (1998) (discussing injuries resulting

from “‘intentional torts’”), whereas §523(a)(2)(A) covers

only fraudulent acts. Nothing in our interpretation alters that

distinction either. Thus, given the clear differences between

these provisions, we see no reason to craft an artificial

definition of “actual fraud” merely to avoid narrow

redundancies in §523 that appear unavoidable.

Ritz also says that our interpretation creates redundancy

with a separate section of the HN10 Bankruptcy Code,

§727(a)(2), which prevents a debtor from discharging all of

his debts if, within the year preceding the bankruptcy

petition, he “transferred, removed, destroyed, mutilated, or

concealed” property “with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud

a creditor or an officer of the estate charged with custody of

property.” Although the two provisions could cover some of

the same conduct, they are meaningfully different. Section

727(a)(2) is broader than §523(a)(2)(A) in

scope—preventing [**15] an offending debtor from

discharging all debt in bankruptcy. But it is narrower than

§523(a)(2)(A) in timing—applying only if the debtor

fraudulently conveys assets in the year preceding the

bankruptcy filing. In short, while §727(a)(2) is a blunt

remedy for actions that hinder the entire bankruptcy process,

§523(a)(2)(A) is a tailored remedy for behavior connected

to specific debts.

Ritz’ next point of resistance rests on §523(a)(2)(A)’s

requirement that the relevant debt be “for money, property,

services, or . . . credit . . . obtained by . . . actual fraud.”

(Emphasis added.) The argument, which the dissent also

emphasizes, has two parts: First, it posits that fraudulent

conveyances (unlike other forms of actual [*665] fraud)

cannot be used to “obtai[n]” debt because they function

2 See Tr. of Oral Arg. 30 (Justice Kagan: “[Y]ou’re not contesting that fraudulent conveyance is a form of actual fraud; is that right?”

Ms. Murphy: “[Y]es, that’s right”); id., at 27 (Ms. Murphy: “[T]o be clear, we don’t dispute that fraudulent conveyance is a form of actual

fraud”).
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instead to hide valuables that a debtor already possesses.

Brief for Respondent 20, 31. There is, the dissent says, no

debt at the end of a fraudulent conveyance that could be said

to “‘resul[t] from’” or be “‘traceable to’” the fraud. Post, at

3 (quoting Field, 516 U. S., at 61, 64, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L.

Ed. 2d 351). Second, it urges that “actual fraud” not be

interpreted to encompass forms of fraud that are incompatible

with the provision’s “obtained by” requirement.

HN11 It is of course true that the transferor does not

“obtai[n]” debts in a fraudulent conveyance. [**16] But the

recipient of the transfer—who, with the requisite intent, also

commits fraud—can “obtai[n]” assets “by” his or her

participation in the fraud. See, e.g., McClellan v. Cantrell,

217 F. 3d 890 (CA 7 2000); see also supra, at 6. If that

recipient later files for bankruptcy, any debts “traceable to”

the fraudulent conveyance, see Field, 516 U. S., at 61, 116

S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351; post, at 3, will be

nondischargable under §523(a)(2)(A). Thus, at least

sometimes a debt “obtained by” a fraudulent conveyance

scheme could be nondischargeable under §523(a)(2)(A).

Such circumstances may be rare because a person who

receives fraudulently conveyed assets is not necessarily (or

even likely to be) a debtor on the verge of bankruptcy, 3 but

they make clear that fraudulent conveyances are not wholly

incompatible with the “obtained by” requirement.

The dissent presses further still, contending that HN12 the

phrase “obtained by . . . actual fraud” [**17] requires not

only that the relevant debts “resul[t] from” or be “traceable

to” fraud but also that they “result from fraud at the

inception of a credit transaction.” Post, at 3 (emphasis

added). Nothing in the text of §523(a)(2)(A) supports that

additional requirement. The dissent bases its conclusion on

this Court’s opinion in Field, in which the Court noted that

certain forms of bankruptcy fraud require a degree of direct

reliance by a creditor on an action taken by a debtor. But

Field discussed such “reliance” only in setting forth the

requirements of the form of fraud alleged in that

case—namely, fraud perpetrated through a misrepresentation

to a creditor. See 516 U. S., at 61, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed.

2d 351. The Court was not establishing a “reliance”

requirement for frauds that are not premised on such a

misrepresentation.

Finally, Ritz argues that Congress added the phrase “actual

fraud” to §523(a)(2)(A) not to expand the exception’s reach,

but to restrict it. In Ritz’ view, “actual fraud” was inserted as

the last item in a disjunctive list—“false pretenses, a false

representation, or actual fraud”—in order to make clear that

the “false pretenses” and “false representation[s]” covered

by the provision needed to be intentional. Brief for

Respondent 29-31. Ritz asks us, in other words, [**18] to

ignore [*666] what he believes is Congress’ “imprudent use

of the word ‘or,’” id., at 32, and read the final item in the list

to modify and limit the others. In essence, he asks us to

change the word “or” to “by.” That is an argument that

defeats itself. We can think of no other example, nor could

petitioner point to any at oral argument, in which this Court

has attempted such an unusual statutory modification.

* * *

HN13 Because we must give the phrase “actual fraud” in

§523(a)(2)(A) the meaning it has long held, we interpret

“actual fraud” to encompass fraudulent conveyance schemes,

even when those schemes do not involve a false

representation. We therefore reverse the judgment of the

Fifth Circuit and remand the case for further proceedings

consistent with this opinion.

So ordered.

Dissent by: Thomas

Dissent

Justice Thomas, dissenting.

The Bankruptcy Code exempts from discharge “any debt . .

. for money, property, [or] services . . . to the extent obtained

by . . . false pretenses, a false representation, or actual

fraud.” 11 U. S. C. §523(a)(2)(A) (emphasis added). The

Court holds that “actual fraud” encompasses fraudulent

transfer schemes effectuated without any false representation

to a creditor and concludes that a debt for goods may

“sometimes” be “obtained [**19] by” a fraudulent transfer

scheme. Ante, at 3, 9. Because §523(a)(2)(A) does not apply

so expansively, I respectfully dissent.

I

In my view, “actual fraud” within the meaning of §523(a)(2)

does not encompass fraudulent transfer schemes. There are

two types of fraudulent transfer schemes: “transfers made

3 Ritz’ situation may be unusual in this regard because Husky contends that Ritz was both the transferor and the transferee in his

fraudulent conveyance scheme, having transferred Chrysalis assets to other companies he controlled. We take no position on that

contention here and leave it to the Fifth Circuit to decide on remand whether the debt to Husky was “obtained by” Ritz’ asset-transfer

scheme.
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with actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors,

referred to as actual fraudulent transfers” and “transfers

made for less than reasonably equivalent value when a

debtor was in financial trouble, [which is] referred to as

constructive fraudulent transfers.” 2 Bankruptcy Law Manual

§9A:29, p. 333 (5th ed. 2015). I do not quibble with the

majority’s conclusion that the common-law definition of

“actual fraud” included fraudulent transfers. Ante, at 4-6.

And I agree that, generally, we should give a common-law

term of art its established common-law meaning. Ante, at 4.

Nevertheless, the “general rule that a common-law term of

art should be given its established common-law meaning”

gives way “where that meaning does not fit.” United States

v. Castleman, 572 U. S. ___, ___, 134 S. Ct. 1405, 188 L.

Ed. 2d 426, 434 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Ultimately, “[s]tatutory language must be read in context

and a phrase gathers meaning from the words around it.”

Jones v. United States, 527 U. S. 373, 389, 119 S. Ct. 2090,

144 L. Ed. 2d 370 (1999) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In my view, [**20] context dictates that “actual fraud”

ordinarily does not include fraudulent transfers because

“that meaning does not fit” with the rest of §523(a)(2).

Castleman, [*667] supra, at ___, 134 S. Ct. 1405, 188 L.

Ed. 2d 426, 434 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Section 523(a)(2) covers only situations in which “money,

property, [or] services” are “obtained by . . . actual fraud,”

and results in a debt. See Cohen v. de la Cruz, 523 U. S. 213,

218, 118 S. Ct. 1212, 140 L. Ed. 2d 341 (1998). The

statutory phrase “obtained by” is an important limitation on

the reach of the provision. Section 523(a)(2)(A) applies only

when the fraudulent conduct occurs at the inception of the

debt, i.e., when the debtor commits a fraudulent act to

induce the creditor to part with his money, property,

services, or credit. The logical conclusion then is that

“actual fraud”—as it is used in the statute—covers only

those situations in which some sort of fraudulent conduct

caused the creditor to enter into a transaction with the

debtor. A fraudulent transfer generally does not fit that

mold, unless, perhaps, the fraudulent transferor and the

fraudulent transferee conspired to fraudulently drain the

assets of the creditor. But the fraudulent transfer here, like

all but the rarest fraudulent transfers, did not trick the

creditor into selling his goods to the buyer, Chrysalis

Manufacturing Corporation. It follows [**21] that the goods

that resulted in the debt here were not “obtained by” actual

fraud. §523(a)(2)(A).

A

I reach this conclusion based on the plain meaning of the

phrase “obtained by,” which has an “inherent” “element of

causation,” and refers to those debts “resulting from” or

“traceable to” fraud. Field v. Mans, 516 U. S. 59, 61, 64, 66,

116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1995). As I have stated,

“in order for a creditor to establish that a debt is not

dischargeable, he must demonstrate that there is a causal

nexus between the fraud and the debt.” Archer v. Warner,

538 U. S. 314, 325, 123 S. Ct. 1462, 155 L. Ed. 2d 454

(2003) (Thomas, J., dissenting) (relying on Field, supra, at

61, 64, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351, and Cohen, supra,

at 218, 118 S. Ct. 1212, 140 L. Ed. 2d 341). There is also

“[n]o . . . doub[t] that some degree of reliance is required to

satisfy th[is] element of causation.” Field, 516 U. S., at 66,

116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351. The upshot of the phrase

“obtained by” is that §523(a)(2) covers only those debts that

result from fraud at the inception of a credit transaction.

Such a debt caused by fraud necessarily “follows a transfer

of value or extension of credit induced by falsity or fraud.”

Ibid. (emphasis added).

Bankruptcy treatises confirm that “[t]he phrase ‘to the

extent obtained by’ is properly read as meaning ‘obtained

from’ the creditor.” 3 W. Norton & W. Norton, Bankruptcy

Law and Practice §57:15, p. 57-35 (3d ed. 2015). The “term

‘by’ refers to the manner in which such money, property,

services is obtained and the [**22] creditor defrauded.” Ibid.

According to Collier on Bankruptcy, to invoke §523(a)(2)(A)

based on “actual fraud,” a creditor “must establish” that he

“justifiably relied” on the debtor’s “representation,” which

the debtor “knew to be false” and made “with the intent and

purpose of deceiving the” creditor and that the creditor

“sustained a loss or damage as the proximate consequence.”

4 Collier on Bankruptcy ¶523.08[1][e], p. 523-47 (A.

Resnick & H. Sommer eds., 16th ed. 2015). Norton

Bankruptcy Law and Practice is in accord: Section

523(a)(2)(A) [*668] requires a “misrepresentation,”

“knowledge of falsity,” “intent to defraud,” “justifiable

reliance,” and “resulting damage.” 3 Norton, supra, §57:15,

at 57-33 to 57-34.

B

Applying those principles here, Husky cannot invoke

§523(a)(2)(A) to except the debt owed to it from discharge

because, ordinarily, it would be nonsensical to say that a

fraudulent transfer created the debt at issue. As the majority

notes, the debt at issue did not originate from any transaction

between Ritz and Husky. Ante, at 1-2. Instead, Husky sold

goods to Chrysalis, a company that Ritz financially

controlled. Ibid. In turn, Chrysalis—not Ritz—incurred a

debt to Husky of $163,999.38 for the goods. Ante, at 1. As

the Bankruptcy Court found, [**23] there is no evidence

that Ritz made “any oral or written representations to Husky
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inducing Husky to enter into a contract with Chrysalis.” In

re Ritz, 459 B. R. 623, 628 (SD Tex. 2011). In fact, the only

communication between Ritz and Husky occurred after

Husky and Chrysalis entered into the contract and after

Husky had shipped the goods to Chrysalis. Ibid. The

Bankruptcy Court also found that there was no evidence that

Ritz transferred the funds to avoid Chrysalis’ obligations to

pay the debt it owed to Husky—an unsecured creditor. Id.,

at 635. Because Husky does not contend that Ritz

fraudulently induced it to sell goods to Chrysalis and cannot

show that the constructive fraudulent conveyance had

anything to do with its decision to contract with Chrysalis,

Husky has not established that §523(a)(2)(A) covers any

debt owed to it.

II

The majority reaches the opposite conclusion and holds that

§523(a)(2) may prevent an individual debtor from obtaining

a discharge even if (1) the debtor makes no false

representation to the creditor, (2) the creditor does not rely

on any of the debtor’s actions or inactions, and (3) there was

no actual fraudulent conveyance at the inception of the

credit transaction between the creditor and the debtor. Ante,

at 5-6, 9. It does [**24] so by giving new meaning to the

phrase “obtained by” in cases involving fraudulent transfers,

disregarding our case law, and second-guessing Congress’

choices. Ante, at 9.

The majority admits that a transferor “does not ‘obtai[n]’

debts in a fraudulent conveyance,” but contends that “the

recipient of the transfer—who, with the requisite intent, also

commits fraud—can ‘obtain’ assets ‘by’ his or her

participation in the fraud.” Ibid. (brackets omitted). “If that

recipient later files for bankruptcy, any debts traceable to the

fraudulent conveyance,” the majority states, “will be

nondischargable under §523(a)(2)(A).” Ibid. (internal

quotation marks omitted). The majority thus holds that “at

least sometimes a debt ‘obtained by’ a fraudulent conveyance

scheme could be nondischargeable under §523(a)(2)(A).”

Ibid. But §523(a)(2)(A) does not exempt from discharge any

debts “traceable to the fraudulent conveyance.” Instead,

§523(a)(2)(A) exempts from discharge “any debt for” goods

that are “obtained by” actual fraud. And, as explained, it is

extremely rare that a creditor will use an actual fraudulent

transfer scheme to induce a creditor [*669] to depart with

property, services, money, or credit. See supra, at 2-3.

In reaching its conclusion, the majority also disregards

[**25] this Court’s precedents interpreting §523(a)(2)(A),

presumably because those cases did not involve fraudulent

transfers. The majority cites Field only for the elemental

proposition that this Court “has historically construed the

terms in §523(a)(2)(A) to contain the ‘elements that the

common law has defined them to include.’” Ante, at 4

(quoting 516 U. S., at 69, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351).

The majority omits Field’s conclusion that one of the

elements of “actual fraud” in §523(a)(2)(A) is “reliance” on

some sort of false statement, misrepresentation, or omission.

Id., at 70, 116 S. Ct. 437, 133 L. Ed. 2d 351 (emphasis

added). To be sure, like the rest of our cases interpreting

§523(a)(2)(A), Field involves a false statement. But that

factual distinction is immaterial. Cases like Field—which

interpret the phrase “obtained by”—are as relevant in cases

that involve false statements and misrepresentations as they

are in a case like this one. After all, “obtained by” modifies

false pretenses, false representations, and actual fraud in

§523(a)(2)(A). And in no case has this Court

suggested—never mind held—that §523(a)(2)(A) may apply

to circumstances in which there was no false statement,

misrepresentation, or omission when the debt was first

obtained.

The majority ostensibly creates a new definition of “obtained

by” because it thinks that this move [**26] is necessary to

avoid rendering “actual fraud” superfluous. See ante, at 4,

7-8. Not so. Actual fraud is broader than false pretenses or

false representations, and “consists of any deceit, artifice,

trick, or design involving direct and active operation of the

mind, used to circumvent and cheat another.” 4 Collier on

Bankruptcy ¶523.08[1][e], at 523-46. “Unlike false pretenses

or false representation, actual fraud, within the meaning of

the dischargeability exception, can focus on a promise of

future performance made with intent not to perform.” 2F

Bankruptcy Service §27:211, p. 59 (Supp. Jan. 2016). In this

way, “the actual fraud” exception “permit[s] the courts to

except from discharge debts incurred without intent to

repay, or by use of other false implied representations,

without the need to stretch the false pretenses and false

representations language.” Zaretsky, The Fraud Exception

to Discharge Under the New Bankruptcy Code, 53 Am.

Bankruptcy L. J. 253, 257 (1979). Some courts, for example,

have held that “a debtor commits actual fraud within the

meaning of §523(a)(2)(A) when he incurs credit card debt

with no actual, subjective intent to repay it,” but has not

made an affirmatively false representation or engaged in

false [**27] pretense. In re Morrow, 488 B. R. 471, 479-480

(Bkrtcy. Ct. ND Ga. 2012); see also, e.g., In re Alam, 314 B.

R. 834, 841 (Bkrtcy. Ct. ND Ga. 2004). Defining actual

fraud this way does not render that term superfluous

and—unlike the majority’s definition—does not render

“obtained by” a nullity.

Regardless, even if there is some overlap between the

definitions of “false pretenses,” “false representations,” and
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“actual fraud,” “[r]edundancies across statutes are not

unusual events in drafting.” Connecticut [*670] Nat. Bank v.

Germain, 503 U. S. 249, 253, 112 S. Ct. 1146, 117 L. Ed. 2d

391 (1992). “[T]he canon against surplusage assists only

where a competing interpretation gives effect to every

clause and word of a statute.” Marx v. General Revenue

Corp., 568 U. S. ___, ___, 133 S. Ct. 1166; 185 L. Ed. 2d

242, 248 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). “But, in

this case, no interpretation of [§523(a)(2)(A)] gives effect to

every word.” Ibid. Under either my reading or the majority’s

reading, “actual fraud” is broader than and subsumes “false

pretenses” and “false representations.” Accordingly, that

“actual fraud” may introduce some redundancy in the

statute is not dispositive.

At bottom, the majority’s attempt to broaden §523(a)(2)(A)

to cover fraudulent transfers impermissibly second-guesses

Congress’ choices. When Congress wants to stop a debtor

from discharging a debt that he has concealed through a

fraudulent transfer scheme, it ordinarily says so. See

§727(a)(2) (stating that a court shall grant the debtor a

discharge unless the debtor engages [**28] in an actual

fraudulent transfer scheme within a certain time of filing a

bankruptcy petition). If Congress wanted §523(a)(2)(A) to

cover fraudulent transfer situations, “it would have spoken

more clearly to that effect.” Staples v. United States, 511 U.

S. 600, 620, 114 S. Ct. 1793, 128 L. Ed. 2d 608 (1994).

Ultimately, “it is not for us to substitute our view of policy

for the legislation which has been passed by Congress.”

Florida Dept. of Revenue v. Piccadilly Cafeterias, Inc., 554

U. S. 33, 52, 128 S. Ct. 2326, 171 L. Ed. 2d 203 (2008)

(ellipsis and internal quotation marks omitted).

* * *

The majority today departs from the plain language of

§523(a)(2)(A), as interpreted by our precedents. Because I

find no support for the Court’s conclusion in the text of the

Bankruptcy Code, I respectfully dissent.
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